IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,)
) No. S260598
Plaintiff and Respondent,)
) No. B295998
vs.)
) Los Angeles
VINCE E. LEWIS,) Superior Court
) No. TA117431
Defendant and Appellant.)
)

APPELLANT/PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

From a Decision of the Court of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division 1
on Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of California
in and for the County of Los Angeles
The Honorable Ricardo R. Ocampo, Judge

ROBERT D. BACON State Bar No. 73297 484 Lake Park Avenue, PMB 110 Oakland, California 94610 Telephone (510) 834-6219 E-mail: bacon2254@aol.com

Attorney for Appellant/Petitioner

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

The issues to be briefed and argued are stated as follows in the order of March 18, 2020, granting review:

- "(1) May superior courts consider the record of conviction in determining whether a defendant has made a prima facie showing of eligibility for relief under Penal Code section 1170.95?
- "(2) When does the right to appointed counsel arise under Penal Code section 1170.95, subdivision (c)?" 1/2

* * * * *

^{1.} Unexplained section references are to the Penal Code.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts and the course of proceedings are stated in the opinion of the Court of Appeal. (People v. Lewis (2020) 43 Cal.App.5th 1128, 1133-1134.) To summarize: Vince Lewis was tried along with Mirian [sic] Herrera and Ariana Coronel for the murder of Darsy Noriega. The evidence showed that Ms. Herrera shot and killed Ms. Noriega. The case against Mr. Lewis, who was in a car nearby, went to the jury on theories of direct aiding and abetting, natural and probable consequences, and an uncharged conspiracy to commit assault that also depended on natural-and-probable-consequences reasoning (see *People v*. Rivera (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 1350, 1356-1357). (B241236 2 CT 504-509.)²/ Premeditation was the only theory of first-degree murder on which the jury was instructed. (B241236 2 CT 513.) The jury convicted Mr. Lewis of first-degree murder, and rejected a personal weapon use allegation. (B241236 2 CT 552.) He was sentenced to 25 years to life. (B241236 3 CT 649.)

While the case was on appeal, this Court held in *People v*. *Chiu* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 155, that the natural and probable consequences theory will only support a conviction for second-degree, not first-degree, murder. The instructions at Mr. Lewis's trial did not reflect this limitation.

^{2.} The Court of Appeal took judicial notice of the record on Mr. Lewis's appeal from his conviction, No. B241236. That record is cited herein with the prefix "B241236."

The Court of Appeal nevertheless affirmed. Resolving a fact-intensive dispute between the parties about the trial evidence, the Court of Appeal held that the instructional error was harmless, based on what it perceived as the strength of the evidence that Mr. Lewis was a direct aider and abetter. (*People v. Lewis* (July 14, 2014) 2014 Cal.App. Unpub. LEXIS 4923 at pp. *28-*30 [No. B241236].)^{3/}

Mr. Lewis filed a petition for resentencing in the superior court under section 1170.95 (enacted by Senate Bill 1437 of 2018 [Stats. 2018, ch. 1015]; hereafter sometimes "SB 1437"). (CT 1-3.) He requested counsel, but none was appointed. No order to show cause was issued. The superior court denied the petition in a minute order referring to the opinion of the Court of Appeal affirming the conviction. (CT 4-5.)

A few months later, the superior court judge sua sponte recognized that he had erred by denying the petition summarily without appointment of counsel, and asked for the case back from

^{3.} But see *People v. Mil* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 400, 417, quoting *Neder v. United States* (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 19 (the existence of "evidence that could rationally lead to a *contrary* finding" establishes prejudice) (emphasis added); and *In re Martinez* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1216, 1225-1227 (*Chiu* error prejudicial even though there was "sufficient evidence" of direct aiding and abetting).

The Court of Appeal's 2014 analysis is difficult to square with *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18. (See ARB 20-25 in the present appeal, and Mr. Lewis's petitions for review (No. S220153, filed August 22, 2014) and certiorari (No. 14-7363, filed November 28, 2014) in the prior appeal.) Review was recently granted on what appears to be a similar question. *In re Lopez*, No. S258912 (review granted Jan. 15, 2020).

the Court of Appeal so he could appoint counsel and thereafter proceed in the manner prescribed by section 1170.95. (5/22/19 RT 2-3.) The Court of Appeal did not address this request in its opinion or otherwise. For reasons stated in this brief *passim*, the superior court judge was correct and the Court of Appeal should have granted his request.

In the decision now under review, the Court of Appeal affirmed the denial of the section 1170.95 petition in a published opinion. (43 Cal.App.5th 1128.)

* * * * *

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The two issues on which the Court granted review are closely related: At any stage at which the superior court may consider the record of conviction, the defendant is entitled to counsel. Conversely, once the defendant has the assistance of counsel – but not before – the court may, with the benefit of adversary briefing, consider the record of conviction. This brief discusses the Court's issue 2 under heading 2, and the Court's issue 1 under heading 3, but there are necessarily multiple cross-references between the sections.

This brief sets out many factors that support this conclusion: It is the most appropriate reading of the text of section 1170.95. It is supported by legislative history and general principles of statutory construction. It is consistent with the definition of a "critical stage" at which the right to counsel attaches. It minimizes the risk of erroneous denials of petitions, without an inappropriate burden on judicial resources. It avoids unfairness to unrepresented litigants.

The case should be remanded with instructions to appoint counsel for Mr. Lewis.

* * * * *

ARGUMENT

- 1. Introduction: The text of section 1170.95, and established principles of statutory construction, require section 1170.95 to be construed more generously to defendants than it was construed by the courts below
 - A. The structure of section 1170.95, subdivision (c)

SB 1437 narrowed the felony-murder rule and eliminated natural and probable consequences liability for murder by amending sections 188 and 189, effective January 1, 2019. It gave the change retrospective effect by enacting section 1170.95, which gives defendants whose convictions are already final an opportunity to receive the benefit of the change in the substantive law. It provided them with the assistance of counsel to claim this benefit, and did not limit them to the evidence presented at trial.

Subdivision (c) of section 1170.95, the portion at issue in this case, reads in full:

The court shall review the petition and determine if the petitioner has made a prima facie showing that the petitioner falls within the provisions of this section. If the petitioner has requested counsel, the court shall appoint counsel to represent the petitioner. The prosecutor shall file and serve a response within 60 days of service of the petition and the petitioner may file and serve a reply within 30 days after the prosecutor [sic] response is served. These deadlines shall be extended for good cause. If the petitioner makes a prima facie showing that he or she is entitled to relief, the court shall issue an order to show cause.

The courts below shut the door to Mr. Lewis at the first of the two prima facie stages set forth in subdivision (c), concluding he failed to make a prima facie case that he "falls within the provisions of this section." Although the plain words of the first sentence limit the court to reviewing the *petition*, the courts below improperly looked beyond Mr. Lewis's petition, inconsistently with the text of the statute and the concept of a prima facie case. (43 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1139-1140.)

In context, the meaning of the initial prima facie case in the first sentence of subdivision (c) is explained by subdivisions (a) and (b)(2).

Subdivision (a) establishes which defendants "fall[] within the provisions of" section 1170.95: defendants whose charging document "allowed the prosecution to proceed under a theory of felony murder or murder under the natural and probable consequences doctrine"; who were convicted of murder; and who could not now be convicted under the amended law. By filling out the form petition and signing it under penalty of perjury, Mr. Lewis alleged a prima facie case – a case that puts aside the possibility of impeachment or contradiction – on each of those three elements. (*People v. Drayton* (2020) 47 Cal.App.5th 965, 975-976.)

Subdivision (b)(2) allows a petition to be denied without appointment of counsel if any necessary information is missing from the petition and cannot readily be ascertained. The court can search for *missing* information, but not for *contradictory* information. A denial for missing information must be without prejudice and the defendant must be so advised. (§ 1170.95, subd. (b)(2).) Nothing was missing from Mr. Lewis's petition, and the denial was not stated to be without prejudice. This is the only

reference in section 1170.95 to denial of a petition prior to appointment of counsel, so the reasonable inference is that denial is not authorized for any reasons other than those stated in subdivision (b)(2). The *expressio unius* principle of statutory construction is well established: "the explicit mention of some things in a text may imply other matters not similarly addressed are excluded." (*People v. Soto* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 968, 975.)

In context, the first sentence of subdivision (c) appears to be declarative of the procedure for implementing the limited gatekeeping function set forth by subdivision (b)(2), without conferring any greater authority to deny petitions beyond that conferred by subdivision (b)(2). People v. Verdugo (2020) 44 Cal.App.5th 320, 328-329, petn. for review granted & held, No. S260493, held to the contrary. But Verdugo's conclusion that the court "must" examine portions of the record of conviction at this stage (id. at pp. 329-330) is inconsistent with the statutory directive to assess the first prima facie case by "review[ing] the petition." (§ 1170.95, subd. (c).)

The limited nature of the first step is further indicated by the third sentence of subdivision (c), which requires the prosecutor to file a response within 60 days after the petition is *served*. The defendant, not the court, must serve the petition on the district attorney. (Subd. (b)(1).) The prosecutor is not expected, or even permitted, to wait until the court has conducted an initial review of anything other than the petition itself before preparing a response. Court review of the petition alone, to establish that it alleges the three elements that subdivision (a) says are required

in order to "fall[] within the provisions of this section," and that none of the few items of information required by subdivision (b) is missing, is a simple process that will require minimal time. No deadline is stated for the court's initial review, presumably because none is necessary given how little is required of the court at this step. Any broader initial review would be inconsistent with these elements of the statute.

The first prima facie case ("falls within the provisions of this section") is contrasted with the second and more substantial prima facie case, set forth in different terms in the last sentence of subdivision (c): "a prima facie showing that he or she is *entitled* to relief." (Emphasis added; see Drayton, supra, 47 Cal.App.5th at p. 976.) The latter prima facie case need not be pled until the defendant has the assistance of counsel. Because the Legislature used materially different language for the two prima facie showings, it must be presumed that the required showings are different. (Briggs v. Eden Council for Hope & Opportunity (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1106, 1117; contra, Couzens, et al., Sentencing California Crimes (Rutter Group 2019) § 23.51(H)(1) [hereafter "Couzens"] reading the statute to require only a single prima facie showing].) A defendant may, prima facie, fall within the provisions of the statute set forth in subdivision (a) based on the face of the petition, but in light of the record of conviction his counsel may be unable to make a prima facie case that he will be entitled to relief.

The second prima facie case has some similarity to the prima facie case that entitles a petitioner for habeas corpus to an order to show cause, but there are important differences. (See *Drayton, supra*, 47 Cal.App.5th at pp. 977-980.) The most important differences are that under section 1170.95, unlike in habeas, the defendant is entitled to the assistance of counsel in making this prima facie case, and once the defendant makes this prima facie case the burden of proof shifts to the prosecution.

B. A prima facie case is a very low bar

In determining whether a litigant has stated a prima facie case, a court must take the factual allegations as true, setting aside the possibility of contradiction. (Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 857.) This is an issue of pleading, not of proof. For purposes of a prima facie showing, a court must "draw 'every legitimate favorable inference" from the evidence of the party tasked with the showing. (Cuevas-Martinez v. Sun Salt Sand, Inc. (2019) 35 Cal.App.5th 1109, 1117; accord, e.g., Stanley v. Richmond (1995) 35 Cal.App.4th 1070, 1075.) "Normally ... a 'prima facie showing' connotes an evidentiary showing that is made without regard to credibility.... This is particularly true when [as here] the prima facie showing merely triggers an evidentiary hearing, at which any necessary credibility determinations can still be made." (People v. Johnson (2015) 242 Cal.App.4th 1155, 1163.)

"Prima facie evidence ... may be slight evidence which creates a reasonable inference of fact sought to be established but need not eliminate all contrary inferences." (Evans v. Paye (1995)

32 Cal.App.4th 265, 280, fn. 13, and authorities there cited.)

"Evidence supporting a reasonable inference may establish a prima facie case." (Jenni Rivera Enterprises, LLC v. Latin World Entertainment Holdings, Inc. (2019) 36 Cal.App.5th 766, 781; accord, People v. Weaver (2001) 26 Cal.4th 876, 931.) This is so even if there could be other inferences as well. (Reaugh v. Cudahy Packing Co. (1922) 189 Cal. 335, 339.) "[T]he court may not weigh the plaintiff's evidence or inferences against the defendants' as though it were sitting as the trier of fact." (Aguilar, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 856.) The court must determine what any evidence or inference could show or imply to a reasonable trier of fact; "[i]n so doing, it does not decide on any finding of its own, but simply decides what finding such a trier of fact could make for itself." (Ibid.)

C. Section 1170.95 is a remedial statute that should be construed broadly to serve its remedial purpose

A remedial statute is to be liberally construed to extend the remedy broadly in order to promote the public policy animating the statute, "for the benefit of those it is intended to protect." (*United Riggers & Erectors, Inc. v. Coast Iron & Steel Co.* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 1082; accord, e.g., *People v. Barrajas* (1998) 62 Cal.App.4th 926, 930.) This is such a statute. The substantial barrier the Court of Appeal erected to the availability of counsel to implement the statute is inconsistent with this well-established rule of statutory construction.

The Legislature adopted uncodified findings explaining with unusual clarity the statute's remedial purpose, and its intention to benefit those convicted of murder based on vicarious liability for the conduct of others:

Reform is needed in California to limit convictions and subsequent sentencing so that the law of California fairly addresses the culpability of the individual and assists in the reduction of prison overcrowding, which partially results from lengthy sentences that are not commensurate with the culpability of the individual.

It is necessary to amend the felony murder rule and the natural and probable consequences doctrine, as it relates to murder, to ensure that murder liability is not imposed on a person who is not the actual killer, did not act with the intent to kill, or was not a major participant in the underlying felony who acted with reckless indifference to human life.

Except as stated in subdivision (e) of Section 189 of the Penal Code [relating to first degree felony murder], a conviction for murder requires that a person act with malice aforethought. A person's culpability for murder must be premised upon that person's own actions and subjective mens rea."

(Stats. 2018, ch. 1015, § 1, subd. (e), (f) & (g); see also *People v. Lamoureux* (2019) 42 Cal.App.5th 241, 256; *People v. Munoz* (2019) 39 Cal.App.5th 738, 763.) The previous year, the Legislature had adopted a resolution making more detailed findings setting forth the need for the reforms subsequently adopted in SB 1437. (Sen. Conc. Res. No. 48, Stats. 2017 (2017-2018 Reg. Sess.), res. ch. 175.)

The Legislature underscored its remedial purpose when it provided in section 1170.95 for retroactive application of these changes to defendants whose convictions were already final when the statute was enacted. The Legislature expressly made the new remedy more broadly available than would the default retroactivity rule of *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740.

The construction the Court of Appeal gave to this statute frustrates those broad legislative objectives. It sets an unrealistically high bar for unrepresented litigants to surmount, on pain of losing any ability to advocate, with the assistance of counsel and with new evidence if available, for the benefit of the remedial change in the substantive law. It unnecessarily compromises the legislative purpose of proportionate punishment by overlaying a new level of arbitrariness based on the date of finality. It diminishes the ability of the statute to fulfill the legislative purpose to reduce prison overcrowding by reducing prison terms that are unnecessarily lengthy, not just new commitments to prison but terms that prisoners are already serving.

By contrast, the interpretation set forth in this brief fulfills the rule of liberal construction of remedial statutes.

D. Section 1170.95 establishes a special proceeding; courts may not deviate from the statutory terms of such a proceeding

A section 1170.95 petition is a "special proceeding," such that the courts are required to adhere strictly to the statutory procedure.

The Code of Civil Procedure divides all judicial remedies into two classes: "actions" and "special proceedings." (Code Civ. Proc., § 21.) "An action is an ordinary [civil or criminal] proceeding in a court of justice by which one party prosecutes another for the declaration, enforcement, or protection of a right, redress or prevention of a wrong, or the punishment of a public offense." (Code Civ. Proc., § 22.) "Every other remedy is a special proceeding." (Code Civ. Proc., § 23.) "Special proceedings ... generally are 'confined to the type of case which was not, under the common law or equity practice, either an action at law or a suit in equity. [Citations.]' Special proceedings instead are established by statute." (People v. Superior Court (Laff) (2001) 25 Cal.4th 703, 725.)

"Special proceedings are creatures of statute and the court's jurisdiction in such proceedings is limited by statutory authority. [Citations.]" (Paramount Unified School Dist. v. Teachers Assn. of Paramount (1994) 26 Cal.App.4th 1371, 1387.) "As special proceedings are created and authorized by statute, the jurisdiction over any special proceeding is limited by the terms and conditions of the statute under which it was authorized and ... the statutory procedure must be strictly followed." (People v. Quiroz (2016) 244 Cal.App.4th 1371, 1379 [competency proceeding; internal brackets and quotations omitted].)

The courts below violated this rule when they looked beyond the four corners of Mr. Lewis's petition to erect a non-statutory barrier to his right to counsel. What the courts below did here can be contrasted with *In re Kinnamon* (2005) 133 Cal.App.4th 316, a special proceeding under section 1405 to

obtain post-conviction DNA testing. The Court of Appeal remanded with directions to appoint counsel for the defendant because his "request for the appointment of counsel met the statutory criteria mandating that his request be granted." (Id. at p. 323.) They did so despite their belief that the Legislature had established too broad a right to counsel, and that the "lax statutory standard will result in a wasteful expenditure of time and money." (Id. at p. 324.) The Kinnamon court would have preferred to conclude, based on the record of conviction, that even with counsel the defendant would be unable to establish his entitlement to DNA testing, but recognized that that was not the standard prescribed by the Legislature. (*Ibid.*) The Court of Appeal in Mr. Lewis's case was similarly troubled by the policy implications of a broad right to counsel under section 1170.95 (43) Cal.App.5th at pp. 1138-1139) but, unlike the *Kinnamon* court, it drew the wrong conclusion, second-guessing and overriding the legislative judgment about the role of counsel and the role of the record of conviction.

E. Summary

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