# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

# THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S260598

v.

VINCE E. LEWIS,

Defendant and Appellant.

Second Appellate District, Division One, Case No. B295998 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. TA117431 The Honorable Ricardo R. Ocampo, Judge

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Indeed, "[h]ere, we do not have even a statement of the author's intent; instead, we have a letter opining that the law should be amended, and the bill's author's inaction in response. If the views of particular legislators are not cognizable legislative history, certainly letters written to them in an attempt to influence their views must be disregarded." (*Tarkington, supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 906, citing *People v. Patterson* (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 438, 443-444.) Moreover, the letter to the Governor was sent *after* Senate Bill 1437 was enacted, meaning it cannot possibly shed light on the Legislature's intent. (*Tarkington, supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 906.)

### 3. Principles of collateral estoppel and law of the case support *Lewis II* and its progeny

Lewis II also correctly noted that collateral estoppel barred appellant from proceeding beyond step one because he was not permitted to relitigate whether he was a direct aider and abettor after that issue was decided adversely to him in *Lewis I.* (*Lewis II, supra,* 43 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1138-1139.) Indeed, both collateral estoppel and the law of the case doctrine compel that conclusion.

The law of the case doctrine provides that when a court decides a legal issue, that decision will continue to govern subsequent stages in the same case. (*Musacchio v. United States* (2016) \_\_ U.S. \_\_ [136 S.Ct. 709, 716].) This means that an appellate court's decision on a legal argument "must be adhered to throughout the case's subsequent progress *in the trial court and on subsequent appeal*, as to questions of law (though not as to questions of fact)." (*City of West Hollywood v. Kihagi* (2017) 16 Cal.App.5th 739, 749, italics added.) In other words, if the *facts* of the case are substantially the same in the subsequent proceeding, the prior legal holding will not be disturbed. (*Capron v. Van Horn* (1931) 114 Cal.App. 630, 631.)

Similarly, collateral estoppel precludes a party to an action from relitigating in a second proceeding matters litigated and determined in a prior proceeding. (*People v. Cooper* (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 500, 518.) Collateral estoppel has five elements: (1) The issue to be precluded must be identical to one decided in a prior proceeding, (2) it must have been actually litigated at that
time, (3) it must have been necessarily decided, (4) the prior decision must be final and on the merits, and (5) the party against whom preclusion is sought must be in privity with the party to the former proceeding. (*Ibid*.)

When considering whether a petitioner has satisfied the prima facie tests of section 1170.95, subdivision (c), these principles require courts to abide by previous decisions affecting that petitioner, as shown by the record of conviction. A jury finding or prior appellate decision may indicate that the petitioner was the actual killer (*Tarkington, supra,* 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 910), or a direct aider and abettor who acted with malice (*Lewis II, supra,* 43 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1138-1139), or who had the express intent to kill (*Verdugo, supra,* 44 Cal.App.5th at pp. 335-336). Such findings place a petitioner outside the ambit of section 1170.95. (See § 188, subd. (a) [law of murder as amended by Senate Bill 1437 requires malice]; *Martinez, supra,* 31 Cal.App.5th at p. 723 [setting forth purpose and scope of Senate Bill 1437].)

Appellant argues that collateral estoppel does not apply because the standard of review was more favorable to him at the section 1170.95 proceeding than it had been in *Lewis I*. (OBM 35-36, citing *Lucas v. Los Angeles* (1996) 47 Cal.App.4th 277, 286-290 and *In re Nathaniel P*. (1989) 211 Cal.App.3d 660, 668, 670 [collateral estoppel requires the legal standard to be as stringent or more so in the prior case than the latter one].) However, in *Lewis I*, the court concluded that appellant was a direct aider and abettor under the most stringent possible standard of review, that of harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt. (*Lewis I, supra*, 2014 WL 3405846, at \*10.) This mirrors the burden of proof applicable to the prosecution in a criminal trial where a defendant, unlike appellant, *is presumed innocent*. There is no higher standard of proof that could reasonably apply.

## 4. *Lewis II* is consistent with the policy goals of Senate Bill 1437

The parties agree that Senate Bill 1437 was intended "to ensure that murder liability is not imposed on a person who is not the actual killer, did not act with the intent to kill, or was not a major participant in the underlying felony who acted with reckless indifference to human life." (OBM 20, quoting Stats. 2018, ch. 1015, § 1.) That is why individuals like appellant, whose convictions place them squarely *outside* the ambit of section 1170.95, should not be permitted to burden the process with patently meritless claims. "[W]here ineligibility is ascertainable based on the record of conviction, no additional record need be 'developed'... [and] no further record development could change the fact that" the petitioner is ineligible. (*Tarkington, supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 910.)

The parties also agree that a prima facie case for relief is generally construed as a low bar. (OBM 18-19.) But that does not aid appellant's argument. Under the *Lewis II* framework, the court makes "all factual inferences in favor of the petitioner." (*Verdugo, supra,* 44 Cal.App.5th at p. 329; *Tarkington, supra,* 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 909.) And the court may not engage in "factfinding" contrary to the petitioner's claims. (*Drayton, supra,* 47 Cal.App.5th at p. 982.) But, as on habeas review, that does not mean the court must disregard its own record and credit a petitioner's claims that directly contradict it. (*Serrano, supra*, 10 Cal.4th at p. 456.)

Therefore, appellant is wrong to claim that *Lewis II* placed an "unrealistically high bar for unrepresented litigants to surmount . . . ." (OBM 21.) The bar is exceedingly low and there is nothing petitioners need to do to "surmount" it. Because the analysis is not fact- or evidence-dependent and does not involve weighing disputed issues, "there is no danger the court will find ineligibility based upon an unclear or missing record. Unless the record conclusively shows that the defendant is ineligible as a matter of law, the court should move to the next step and appoint counsel." (Tarkington, supra, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 909.) A petitioner's record of conviction either makes him absolutely ineligible for relief, or it does not. There is nothing counsel, if appointed, could do to avert a step one denial that comports with the framework of *Lewis II*. (Id. at p. 910 ["counsel's representation could have done nothing to change [the] fact" that the petitioner was ineligible as a matter of law].)

Next, appellant claims that because a petition for resentencing under section 1170.95 is a "special proceeding," the trial court exceeded its jurisdiction when it denied the petition without appointing counsel. (OBM 21-22.) But, even assuming that section 1170.95 establishes a "special proceeding" rather than an ordinary civil or criminal action (see Code Civ. Proc. §§ 22-23), that has no bearing on the question of jurisdiction. Lack of jurisdiction means "an entire absence of power to hear or determine the case, an absence of authority over the subject matter or the parties," or the lack of power "to act except in a particular manner, or to give certain kinds of relief, or to act without the occurrence of certain procedural prerequisites." (*People v. Burnett* (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 151, 178-179, internal quotation marks omitted.) Under section 1170.95, the trial court not only had fundamental subject-matter jurisdiction to consider appellant's petition, it also *must* have had the power to deny the petition at either of two prima facie steps, in order to give meaning to the first and last sentences of subdivision (c).

#### 5. The appellate courts have ably resolved disputes over whether particular types of convictions render a petitioner ineligible as a matter of law under *Lewis II*

Appellant cites several cases in which trial courts' denials of section 1170.95 petitions were reversed on appeal, and he claims this shows why it is impossible to "confidently examine the record of conviction sua sponte and, applying a prima facie case standard, summarily deny a section 1170.95 petition." (OBM 32-37.) But appellant's argument fails because none of the cases he cites disagreed with *Lewis II* or offered an alternative interpretation of section 1170.95. The most appellant can do is cite examples where it was disputed whether a particular petitioner was actually ineligible as a matter of law within the framework of *Lewis II*. Yet the mere fact that such disputes have arisen does not suggest the Legislature intended that counsel be appointed in *all* cases, no matter how meritless, as a prophylactic measure.<sup>5</sup> To the contrary, the Courts of Appeal, applying *Lewis II*, have equitably handled the cases appellant cites where counsel was not appointed, the petition was denied, and the petitioner appealed. The Legislature's choice not to require counsel be appointed in all cases strikes a sensible balance between providing counsel where the petitioner makes a colorable claim, but not in the vast number of cases that can be easily dismissed as a matter of law. Appellate review, of course, is also available as a safeguard.

For example in *People v. Torres* (2020) 46 Cal.App.5th 1168, review granted, June 24, 2020, S262011, the trial court summarily denied the section 1170.95 petition as a matter of law based on the petitioner's conviction for special circumstance felony murder under section 190.2, subdivision (a)(17), which mirrors the new standard of felony murder set forth in the amended section 189, subdivision (e)(3). (OBM 32-33; *Torres*, *supra*, 46 Cal.App.5th at p. 1173.) On appeal, *Torres explicitly agreed* with the premise of *Lewis II* that petitions may be summarily dismissed, but sided with the petitioner on whether

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In holding that summary dismissal is permissible, *Lewis II* obviously did not intend to decide all future cases where disputes may arise as to whether a particular petition should be dismissed. *Verdugo* set forth a few salient examples of what may constitute ineligibility, but also did not purport to provide an exhaustive list. (See *Verdugo*, *supra*, 44 Cal.App.5th at p. 330.)

this particular *type* of conviction necessarily meant he was ineligible. (*Id.* at pp. 1173, 1180.)<sup>6</sup>

The same is true of *People v. Offley, et al.* (2020) 48 Cal.App.5th 588, which was decided by the same court that decided *Lewis II.* (OBM 34-35.) In Offley, the trial court summarily denied two codefendants' section 1170.95 petitions on the basis that they acted with malice as a matter of law. (Id. at p. 594.) Offley reaffirmed its own decision in Lewis II and favorably cited Verdugo and Cornelius, but reversed the denial of the petitions. (Id. at p. 600.) As to one of the petitioners, the trial court mistook a *principal* firearm use enhancement (§ 12022.53, subd. (e)(1)) for a *personal* firearm discharge enhancement (§ 12022.53, subd. (d)). The principal use enhancement did not indicate malice as a matter of law. (Offley, supra, 48 Cal.App.5th at pp. 599-600.) As to the other petitioner, the trial court overlooked the fact that the jury was instructed with the natural and probable consequences theory of coconspirator liability, which permitted a conviction for murder without malice. (Id. at pp. 598-599.) These were ordinary trial court errors, and were corrected on appeal with reference to Lewis II.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The dispute in *Torres* was based on whether *People v*. *Banks* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 788, and *People v*. *Clark* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 522, redefined special circumstance felony murder after the petitioner was convicted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Drayton* is analogous. There, the petitioner pleaded guilty to felony murder without a special circumstance. However, the trial court at step two of the prima facie analysis considered (continued...)

Next, appellant cites the pending dispute on review in this Court in *People v. Lopez* (2019) 38 Cal.App.5th 1087, review granted Nov. 13, 2019, S258175, regarding whether Senate Bill 1437 changed criminal liability for attempted murder. (OBM 33-34.)<sup>8</sup> This issue simply has no impact on *Lewis IT*s interpretation of section 1170.95. *Lopez* correctly held that Senate Bill 1437 did not affect the definition of attempted murder, but *even the courts that disagreed with Lopez* and held that Senate Bill 1437 does apply to attempted murder (see *Medrano, supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 1018), have explicitly held that section 1170.95 *does not*. (*Larios, supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 970.) The only avenue for relief under *Medrano*'s and *Larios*'s expanded construction of Senate Bill 1437 is via direct appeal of a non-final conviction, not a section 1170.95 petition. (*Ibid.*; see also *Medrano, supra*, 42

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

the egregiousness of the crime and independently decided that he was ineligible for relief, reasoning that the crime satisfied the new elements of felony murder under the amended section 189, subdivision (e)(3). On appeal, the People conceded, and *Drayton* agreed, that while the court need not accept assertions in a section 1170.95 petition that are "untrue as a matter of law," it also must not conduct "factfinding" before issuing an order to show cause. (*Drayton, supra*, 47 Cal.App.5th at pp. 980-982.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See also People v. Munoz (2019) 39 Cal.App.5th, 738, review granted Nov. 26, 2019, S258234 [agreeing with Lopez that Senate Bill 1437 does not affect attempted murder]; People v. Dennis (2020) 47 Cal.App.5th 838 [same]; People v. Medrano (2020) 42 Cal.App.5th 1001, review granted Mar. 11, 2020, S259948 [disagreeing with Lopez]; People v. Larios (2019) 42 Cal.App.5th 956, review granted Feb. 26, 2020, S259983 [same]; People v. Sanchez (2020) 46 Cal.App.5th 637, review granted June 10, 2020, S261768 [same].

Cal.App.5th at pp. 1016-1022; *Sanchez, supra*, 46 Cal.App.5th at pp. 639-640.)

Appellant also discusses several section 1170.95 cases involving manslaughter, but the outcome of these militates against his own argument. (OBM 34.) In People v. Cervantes (2020) 46 Cal.App.5th 213, 225-226, People v. Turner (2020) 45 Cal.App.5th 428, 432, and *People v. Flores* (2020) 44 Cal.App.5th 985, 989, the trial courts summarily denied, and the reviewing courts unanimously affirmed, the denials of section 1170.95 petitions for individuals convicted of manslaughter rather than murder. Appellants sought depublication and review by this Court in all three cases, and those requests were denied. Although this Court's denial of review is not necessarily an expression of its position on the merits, it nevertheless carries some "significance." (DiGenova v. State Board of Education (1962) 57 Cal.2d 167, 178.) The significance here is that allowing summary dismissal of patently meritless section 1170.95 petitions—such as where the petitioner was not even convicted of murder—clearly has not been deemed to be an inherently unfair process, and the Courts of Appeal are capable of adjudicating any disputes about what constitutes a meritless petition as a matter of law.

Appellant also points out the split in authority between *People v. Law* (2020) 48 Cal.App.5th 811, review granted July 8, 2020, S262490, and *People v. Smith* (2020) 49 Cal.App.5th 85, review granted July 22, 2020, S262835, as an alleged example of the problems that arise out of the *Lewis II* framework. (OBM 45,

44

fn. 8.) However, neither of those cases purported to disagree with *Lewis II. Law* implicitly agreed with *Torres* that a pre-*Banks* special circumstance felony murder conviction (§ 190.2, subds. (a)(17), (d)) does not necessarily render a section 1170.95 petitioner ineligible for relief. But *Law* held that the peculiar nature of a Banks and Clark claim means the trial court—or a reviewing court conducting a harmless error analysis—can decide as a matter of law whether the conviction comports with the *Banks* and *Clark* factors. If it does, then the court may deny a section 1170.95 at the prima facie steps. (Law, supra, 48) Cal.App.5th at pp. 822-826.) As in Offley, the question in Law was simply whether a particular type of conviction falls within the matter-of-law analysis set forth in *Lewis II*, or instead raises a factual dispute that must be resolved in favor of the petitioner during the two-step prima facie process. (See Verdugo, supra, 44 Cal.App.5th at p. 329.)

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